1981

State of Utah v. Jerry Long : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Jerry Long was charged with the violation of §58-37-8(1); (ii), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, a felony. The information alleged that on or about the 5th day of March, 1980, he knowingly and intentionally distributed for value lysergic acid diethylamide, a schedule I controlled substance.

FACTS AND DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

At Defendant's first trial on September 18, 1980, he used an alibi defense consisting of testimony from friends and family that the Defendant was nowhere near the scene of the alleged crime as charged by the State. This resulted in a hung jury.

Prior to Defendant's second trial on November 20, 1980,

the same witnesses consisting of Defendant's family and friends were again subpoenaed. All of the witnesses subpoenaed appeared at trial except for two non-family witnesses who were not served by the Sheriff's office until 12 hours after the trial had concluded. At this second trial, the jury convicted the Defendant over his alibi defense. The trial court denied motion by defense counsel for a new trial based upon failure of the county constable to serve Defendant's witnesses in a timely fashion.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant requests that his sentence be vacated, and that this Court grant him a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE UTAH COUNTY CONSTABLE'S FAILURE TO SERVE THE WITNESSES SUBPOENED BY DEFENDANT DENIED HIM HIS RIGHT TO COMPEL THE ATTENDANCE OF WITNESSES BY THE PROCESS OF LAW AND PREJUDICED HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE.

Utah Code Annotated, 1953, §77-1-6, as amended, provides as follows: "RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT-(1) in criminal prosecutions the Defendant is entitled: . . . (e) to have compulsory process to insure the attendance of witnesses in his behalf. . . ." and the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, in Utah Code Annotated, 1953, §77-35-14, as amended, provides in part:

SUBPOENA (a) . . . the clerk of the court in which a case is pending shall issue and blank to the Defendant, without charge, as many signed subpoenas as the Defendant may require. (b) A subpoena may command a person to whom it is directed to appear and testify or to produce in court or to allow inspection of records, papers or other

objects. The court may quash or modify the subpoena if compliance would be unreasonable. (c) A subpoena may be served by any person over the age of 18 years who is not a party. Service shall be made by delivering a copy of the subpoena to the witness or interpreter personally and notifying him of the contents. A peace officer shall serve any subpoena delivered to him for service in his county. (emphasis added).

It seems clear that the Defendant in a criminal prosecution has a right to have the compulsory processes and powers of the state to insure the attendance of witnesses in his behalf at trial. And Rule 14 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure places a mandatory duty upon peace officers to serve any subpoena delivered to them for service in the county. Subparagraph (d) of Rule 14 also provides that "written return of service of a subpoena shall be made promptly to the court and to the person requesting that the subpoena be served, stating the time and place of service and by whom service was made" (emphasis added). That is a peace officer, as an officer of the state, has an affirmative duty to serve any subpoenas delivered to him in a timely and a prompt manner, and deliver a return of service in a like manner. In State v Sandoval, 590 P.2d 346 (Utah 1979), this court said:

Any Defendant in a criminal case has a right to call any witness who can offer testimony in his favor. No witness has a right to withhold testimony unless the testimony would tend to incriminate himself. 590 P.2d at 347.

Before Defendant's second trial, he delivered subpoenas to the Utah County Constable for the same 6 persons, consisti

of family and friends, as had testified at his first trial. However on November 20, 1980, at Defendant's second trial, only witnesses who were related to the Defendant had received subpoenas and actually testified at trial. The two witnesses at the prior trial who were not related to the Defendant were not served by the Utah County Constable until 12 hours after the end of the trial. No evidence was ever offered that the constables had made a diligent search or effort to serve these two potential witnesses with said subpoenas. The trial court was unperterbed at these witnesses absence in the second trial, and held that their testimony was merely cumilative in the case of the second trial, and their absence was not prejudicial to the Defendant's interest. The obvious flaw in such an approach is a fact that Defendant was convicted the second time in the absence of testimony by non-relatives, where in the first trial with the testimony of witnesses not related to the Defendant, no conviction was reached. Although all the witnesses testified to the same thing, that is that the Defendant was at a different location at the time of the alleged crime than the location alleged by the state, and in that sense the testimony was cumilative, there is a clear difference in the weight given to testimony by witnesses who were relatives with the Defendant and those who were not. The jurors in such a case are obviously much more likely to give little credence to testimony from related and interested persons, than to testimony by persons unrelated to the Defendant.

convicted without the testimony in his behalf of witnesses who were not related to him attest to the fact that their absence was extremely prejudicial to him.

Because the absence of Defendant's witnesses was directly attributable to a failure by the Utah County Constable to abide by its statutory duty to serve subpoenas of the Defendant in a timely and prompt fashion aggravates the denial to the Defendant of his rights to the state's compulsory processes. At the very least an effort should have been made at trial to ascertain whether or not the county constable had made a good faith effort to serve the witnesses but was unable to until after the trial. However no such information appears in the record. Therefore the Appellant's right to the compulsory processes of the law to procure witnesses to testify in his behalf at trial was violated by the constable's failure to serve the potential witnesses until after the trial, and Defendant's conviction at this second trial should be vacated.

II. THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED AGAINST THE DEFENDANT WAS OBTAINED BY A PEACE OFFICER OUTSIDE HIS JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARIES AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

As a general rule, in the absence of statutory or constitutional authority a peace officer has no official power to arrest beyond the territorial boundary of the state, city, or county for which he is elected or appointed. Irwin v State Department of Motor Vehicles, 517 P.2d 619 (Wash. 1974); State

v Hodgson, 200 A.2d 567 (Del. Sup. 1964); State v Williams, 347 A.2d 333 (NJ. 1975); Boswell v State, 19 So.2d 94 (Ala. 1944).

There is no common law authority for a police officer to act beyond city boundaries. Martin v Houck, 54 S.Ct. 291 (1906); 5 Am.Jur., arrest, §50. Consequently, unless the state of conduct was authorized by statute, the conduct is illegal.

§77-9-3 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, has authorized a peace officer's authority beyond the limits of his normal jurisdiction in certain limited circumstances:

(1) Any peace officer duly authorized by any governmental agency of this state may exercise a peace officer's authority beyond the limits of such officer's normal jurisdiction as follows: (a) When in fast pursuit on an offender for the purpose of arresting and holding that person in custody or returning the suspect to the jurisdiction where the offense was committed; (b) when a public offense is committed in such officers presence; (c) when participating in an investigation of criminal activity which originated in such officer's normal jurisdiction in cooperation with the local authorities; (d) when called to assist peace officers of another jurisdiction.

(2) Any peace officer prior to taking such authorized action, shall notify and receive approval of the local law enforcement authority, or at such prior contact is not reasonably possible notify the local law enforcement authority as soon as reasonably possible. Unless specifically requested to aid a police officer of another jurisdiction or otherwise provided for by law, no legal responsibility for a police officers actions outside his normal jurisdiction as provided herein, shall attach to the local law enforcement authority.

A peace officer may then exercise his authority when outside the limits of his normal jurisdiction when he is in

fresh pursuit, returning a suspect to the jurisdiction where the offense was committed, where an offense is committed in the officer's presence, in investigations which being in one jurisdiction but enter another (in cooperation with the local authorities), and when expressly requested to by officers of another jurisdiction. In the instant case, Officer Winn testified that they left the city of Pleasant Grove and arrived in the city of Orem where an alleged sale of drugs was made. Officer Winn was clearly not in fresh pursuit and was not returning any suspect to a jurisdiction where an offense was committed. He was not participating in an investigation which began in his jurisdiction and entered another jurisdiction in cooperation with the local authority, nor had he been expressly requested to assist the officers within the Orem City jurisdiction. In fact, no one in the Orem City Police Department even knew Officer Winn was active in their city. The only possibility under which Officer Winn may have been properly authorized to act as a peace officer is when and if a "public offense" was committed in his presence. However were the public offenses not committed within the jurisdiction of Officer Winn, he would not be exercising his duties as a peace officer per se. Instead he would be acting under the authority granted to any other ordinary citizen who observes the commission of a public offense. Utah Code Annotated, 1953 §77-7-3, as amended, sets forth the requirements for a valid

arrest:

BY PRIVATE PERSONS-a private person may arrest another: (1) for a public offense committed or attempted in his presence; or (2) when a felony has been committed and he has reasonable cause to believe that the person arrested has committed it.

That is when Officer Winn left his jurisdictional territory, in Pleasant Grove, and arrived in Orem City, State of Utah, in order to exercise his peace officer's authority, he had to come within the above-listed requirements of hot pursuit, permission, etc. But the only paragraph of §77-9-3 which would validate his actions is sub-paragraph (1)(b): "when a public offense is committed in such officer's presence". And the only authority which he could be exercising there would be the same which a private person could exercise under the same circumstances. This principle has been solidly established in Utah law since the case of People v Coughlin, 44 P.94 (Utah 1896). In that case the Supreme Court upheld the Defendant's conviction for murder despite the fact that he was arrested by Sheriffs outside the county of their jurisdiction, and after they had pursued him across several different counties. The court considered the predecessor statute to §77-7-3 which provided as follows:

A private person may arrest another: (1) for a public offense committed or attempted in his presence. (2) When a person arrested has committed a felony although not in his presence. (3) When a felony has been in fact committed, and he has reasonable cause for believing the person arrested to have committed it. Compiled Laws of Utah §4855.

The Coughlin court reasoned that because there was no doubt that a felony had in fact been committed and the officers had a reasonable cause for believing the persons they were attempting to arrest had committed it, the arresting officers, "though acting as private persons, had the right, under the circumstances to arrest [the defendants]". 44 P. at 95. In the case at bar, if Officer Winn was acting under any authority at all while in the City of Orem, he was acting as an ordinary citizen was entitled to act under Utah Code Annot. §77-7-3. The question then becomes whether or not the Defendant committed or attempted to commit a public offense in his presence.

The State of California considered a factual situation virtually identical to the case at bar in People v Aldapa, 17 Cal.App. 3d. 184, 94 Cal.Rptr. 579 (1979). The Appellate court in that case reversed the Defendant's conviction of possession of heroin for sale because the arrest by a city police officer outside the city police jurisdiction was not authorized by the statute governing the power to make arrests outside city limits. Evidence in that case established that several informants had contacted city police officers of Los Angeles to the effect that the Defendant was selling narcotics at a location outside the city, but within the County of Los Angeles. The officer's conducted surveillances of the premises observed circumstances they deemed suspicious, and rushed to the residence of the Defendants, arresting the occupants. At that

time of these arrests California Penal Code, §817, as amended, provided in its pertinent part:

The authority of a peace officer extends to any place in the state (a) as to a public offense committed or which there is probable cause to believe has been committed within the political subdivision that employs him or (b) if he has the prior consent of the chief of police or person authorized by him to give such consent if the place is within a city or the sheriff or person authorized by him to give such consent of the place is within a county . . .

The record at trial showed no proof of prior authorization and a lack of probable cause. The court then stated:

Since the officers did not fall within the provisions of §817, their power to arrest when acting beyond the limits of the geographic area under their authority would be that conferred upon a private citizen in the same circumstances. (citations omitted) The authority for a private citizen to make an arrest is provided by Penal Code, §837: "A private person may arrest another: (1) for a public offense committed or attempted in his presence. (2) When the person arrested has committed a felony, although not in his presence. (3) When a felony has in fact been committed, and he has reasonable cause for believing the person arrested to have committed it." 94 Cal. Rptr. at 581.

The court decided that the officers only hope at qualifying under the statutory provisions was under paragraph 3 of Penal Code, §837. Further:

Considering the third provision of the statute, the question becomes one of its interpretation. For there to be a valid arrest by a private citizen under Penal Code, §837 (3) the requirement that there in fact be a felony committed can only be met if there is evidence of the corpus delicti and it is an offense known by the arresting party to have been committed. (Citations omitted) A private citizen unlike a peace officer may not arrest whenever he has reasonable cause to believe that the person to be arrested has committed a public offense in his presence, or whenever he has reasonable cause to believe that such person has committed a felony, whether or not a felony has in fact been committed. The corpus delicti for possession of narcotics for sale is (1) possession and (2) possession for purposes of sale. (citation omitted). At the trial, the only evidence offered to show possession of heroin was the heroin found after Defendant was arrested. Id. at 582.

Under the circumstances of the Aldapa case or as the case at bar, the only evidence which was offered to show the knowledge by the officer of a prior offense having been committed was that evidence seized when the officer was outside his jurisdiction, acting as a private citizen. And by conducting the purchase of an allegedly illegal drug as a private citizen, Officer White was clearly exceeding his authority, and his action was illegal.

Although the State of Utah used to hold that the fruits of an illegal search or evidence obtained illegally were admissible at trial (State v Fair, 353 P.2d 615 (Utah 1960)) the United States Supreme Court has since that time established the exclusionary rule which countermands the use of evidence obtained illegally. Wong Sun v United States, 371 U.S. 471 83 S.Ct. 407, (1963). But that same court has held that mere irregularity in the manner in which a Defendant may be brought into custody

of law are not grounds for holding that he should not be tried for the crime with which he is charged. Ker v Illinois, 119 U.S. 436, 7 S.Ct. 225 (1886). And most recently in United States v Crews, 445 U.S. 463, 100 S.Ct. 1244, (1980), the court stated:

Insofar as [defendant] challenges his own presence at trial, he cannot claim immunity from prosecution simply because his appearance in court was perceptuated by an unlawful arrest. An illegal arrest, without more, has never been viewed as a bar to a subsequent prosecution, nor as a defense to a valid conviction. 445 U.S. at 474.

The position of the United States Supreme Court is that where evidence is obtained illegally it may not be presented for consideration of the jury at trial, although the Defendant may still be tried on the charges to which that evidence pertained.

In City of Pasco v Titus, 613 P.2d 181 (Wash. App. 1980), the Washington Court of Appeals reversed a decision by the trial clerk to dismiss charges against the Defendant on the grounds that he had been illegally arrested. The Court held that dismissal of the charges not required merely because of the illegal arrest, and the trial court, instead of dismissing the case, should have merely ruled that the city could not introduce the evidence it obtained by its illegal actions to prove the charges against the Defendant.

In Washington v Renous, 299 P.2d 620 (Utah 1956), the Utah Supreme Court held that where the Defendants illegally returned to the state and incarcerated, and the Defendants may have potential civil and/or criminal actions against the wrongdoers, the

state still had the power to try the accused of the crimes with which they were charged. Likewise in State v Beak, 584 P.2d 870 (Utah 1978), the court held that:

The "probable cause" required for a warrant of arrest, if lacking, may prevent the introduction of unlawfully seized evidence at the trial, but it does not prevent the trial and conviction of the Defendant. 584 P.2d at 872.

The evidence used to convict the Defendant at trial was obtained by the exploitation of information illegally obtained by officers of the state while outside their jurisdiction. Although the exclusionary rule mandates that such evidence not be admissible at trial, the state may nevertheless still bring charges against the Defendant without the use of such evidence. However because the evidence was directly involved in the trial below, where Defendant was convicted, this court should vacate the conviction of Defendant and order a new trial to be held without the admissibility of the aforesaid evidence.

CONCLUSION

This case allows the Court to rule on the question of whether or not the Defendant's right to the compulsory process of the state in assuring the attendance of his witnesses at trial includes showing by this state that any failure to serve subpoenas and to secure the attendance of witnesses for the Defendant on behalf of the police was not as a result of their failure to exercise diligence. In this case at the second trial some of the subpoenas were served, and some of them were not. Because

the most credible witnesses (at least to the jury) were not subpoenaed and not present at Defendant's second trial, he was convicted. The Court likewise has an opportunity to rule on the question of whether or not the narcotics officer's actions outside their assigned jurisdiction comes within that narrow range of circumstances innumeraed under §77-9-3. Certainly until now such officers have had the almost unlimited discretion to go wherever they desire as long as they could roughly equate their activity to being connected with a "public offense", no matter where it was actually committed. For the above reasons, counsel for the Defendant respectfully requests that the Court vacate the judgment of guilty against Defendant rendered by the trial court below, and remand the case for trial.