1981

State of Utah v. Jerry Long : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO
COMPULSORY PROCESS.

Before examining the merits of appellant's claim that he was denied his right to compulsory process, respondent submits that there are a number of procedural issues that should be considered. First, this Court has consistently held that it will not hear issues raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Kelsey, 532 P.2d 1001 (Utah 1975). In Simpson v. General Motors Corporation, 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 399 (1970), this Court said:

Orderly procedure, whose proper purpose is the final settlement of controversies, requires that a party must present his entire case and his theory or theories of recovery to the trial court; and having done so, he cannot thereafter change to some different theory and thus attempt to keep in motion a merry-go-round of litigation. Id. at 401.

An examination of the record in the instant case discloses that appellant failed to raise this issue at trial. The record reveals that appellant's counsel, near the end of the defense, anticipated having a few more witnesses (T. 95); however, upon discovering that the witnesses were not present, appellant's counsel rested (T. 95). There is no indication that appellant requested a continuation to secure the

presence of his witnesses at trial, or that the court refused to allow the testimony of appellant's witnesses on the grounds that, the testimony was cumulative. No offer was made concerning anticipated testimony of the witnesses; therefore respondent submits that appellant's failure to request a continuance or to make an objection precludes him from claiming that he has been denied compulsory process on appeal.

The second procedural issue, which becomes apparent upon reading appellant's brief, is that appellant cites a number of facts not contained within the record. There is no indication in the record that six subpoenas were delivered to the Utah County Constable, or that the Constable delivered some of the subpoenas 12 hours late. In addition, appellant's reference to the trial court's ruling that the testimony of the additional witnesses was merely cumulative is nowhere to be found in the record (appellant's brief, page 4). Finally, even though the record indicates there was a previous trial and that some of the witnesses who testified at the first trial did not testify at the second (R. 4), there is no way of telling what their testimony was or the effect it may have had on the jury.

It is fundamental that an appeal is limited to the proceedings in the lower court upon which the Judgment is based. U.R.C.P., Rule 75. In Tucker Realty Inc. v.

Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410 (1964), this Court stated in response to an attempt to supplement the record with evidence which was not part of the lower court proceedings:

It requires but a moment's reflection to realize what a chaotic situation would exist if after a judgment is entered and an appeal taken, the parties could keep on having supplemental proceedings, adducing new evidence, and forwarding the transcripts to the Supreme Court. The illogic and irregularity of attempting to do so is so obvious that further comment as to its impropriety is unnecessary. Id. at 413, 414.

Respondent submits that the facts cited by appellant in Point I of his brief are not properly before this Court. Respondent further submits that it has no access to these facts and therefore cannot verify their accuracy. For these reasons this Court should not reach the merits of appellant's claim that his right to compulsory process has been denied unless appellant properly presents a complete record to this Court.

If there are omissions in the record or if appellant has newly discovered evidence, there are alternative remedies he can pursue. Under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 75(h) errors or omissions in the record can be corrected. Rule 75(h) provides in part:

If anything material to either party is omitted from the record on appeal by error or accident or is misstated therein, the parties by stipulation, or

the district court, either before or after the record is transmitted to the Supreme Court, or the Supreme Court, on a proper suggestion or of its own initiative, may direct that the omission or misstatement shall be corrected, and if necessary that a supplemental record shall be certified and transmitted by the clerk of the district court. All other questions as to the content and form of the record shall be presented to the Supreme Court.

Respondent submits that if there has been an omission in the record, appellant should comply with the provisions of Rule 75(h).

A second remedy available to appellant, if he has discovered new evidence, is found in Utah Code Annotated, §75-35-24, (1953), as amended. Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that a new trial may be granted "in the interest of justice if there is any error or impropriety which had a substantial adverse effect upon the rights of a party." If appellant discovered after his trial that some of his witnesses were not present at trial because the Utah County Constable failed to timely deliver the subpoenas and that this, in fact, prejudiced him, then appellant should make a motion for a new trial. Further remedies available to appellant include petitioning for a Writ of Habeas Corpus or a Writ of Coram Nobis under Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Before addressing the merits of appellant's claim, respondent again points out the difficulty in making an argument when there is no way to verify the accuracy of appellant's allegations; however, even assuming the facts stated by appellant are true, respondent submits the trial court acted properly. Appellant states that persons unrelated to appellant did not testify at his second trial because of a constable's failure to timely serve them with a subpoena. Appellant also infers that he made a request at trial that would have enabled him to admit the testimony of these witnesses, but that this request was refused on the grounds that the testimony was cumulative (appellant's brief, page 4). Respondent agrees that appellant has the right to compulsory process; however, appellant's right to present competent evidence at trial is subject to the trial judge's discretion to exclude admissible evidence if the judge finds that the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk that its admission will cause any of the following problems:

(a) necessitate undue consumption of time, or (b) create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of confusing the issues or of misleading the jury, or (c) unfairly and harmfully surprise a party who has not had reasonable opportunity to anticipate that such evidence would be offered.

Rule 45 of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

In this case numerous witnesses at trial testified that appellant was not with Officer Winn on March 5, 1980, the night, Officer Winn purchased the L.S.D. from appellant. They claim that appellant on that night was at another bar celebrating his birthday with his brother, Ben (See the testimony of Elmer Benson Long, T. 42; Cindy Marie Stowe, T. 58; Jerry Long, T. 66; and Gary Marchbanks, T. 85). Appellant indicates in his brief that the other witnesses would have also testified that appellant was at a different location on March 5, 1980 than the location alleged by the state (appellant's brief, page 4). It is true that this additional testimony may have added a dimension to appellant's alibi defense; nevertheless, in view of the fact that numerous witnesses had testified that appellant was not with Officer Winn on March 5, 1980, the probative value of additional testimony was outweighed by the risk that a great deal of time would be consumed in granting a continuance to secure the presence of the additional witnesses at trial.

Appellant argues that proof that he was prejudiced by the absence of these additional witnesses is established by the fact that he was not convicted with their testimony at his first trial, but was convicted without their testimony at his second trial. The fallacy of this argument is obvious. It is impossible to conclude from these facts that appellant's

conviction in his second trial was caused by the absence of the additional witnesses. Many other factors could have intervened and resulted in his conviction. First, at appellant's second trial he was tried by a new set of jurors. Second, at the second trial there might have been numerous differences in the appearance and demeanor of those who testified which may have affected their credibility. Third, the strategies and arguments made by counsel for both sides might have been different in the second trial. Therefore, respondent submits that appellant's conviction at his second trial does not establish that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding the additional testimony.

Respondent submits that even if the exclusion of this additional testimony was error, this still would not be a basis to reverse appellant's conviction. Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides:

A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous exclusion of evidence unless (a) it appears of record that the proponent of the evidence either made known the substance of the evidence in a form and by a method approved by the judge, or indicated the substance of the expected evidence by questions indicating the desired answers, and (b) the court which passes upon the effect of the error or errors is of the opinion that the excluded evidence would probably have had a substantial influence in bringing about a different verdict or finding.

In this case appellant provided substantial testimony to corroborate his alibi defense; however, the jury chose to believe the police officer over the witnesses who testified in appellant's behalf. There is no reason to believe that the additional testimony would have changed this result. Therefore, respondent submits that appellant was not prejudiced.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED BY OFFICER WINN IN OREM WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

Appellant argues that Officer Winn exercised his authority outside the territorial limits of his jurisdiction and therefore the evidence he obtained by such action should not have been admitted at trial. Appellant unsuccessfully moved to suppress this evidence on this ground. Respondent argues that on March 5, 1981 Officer Winn was working as an undercover narcotics agent for the Pleasant Grove Police Department, and that he consummated a drug sale in Orem which had begun within Officer Winn's jurisdiction. However, respondent submits that the authorities cited by appellant are not applicable to the facts of the instant case, that Officer Winn acted properly under the circumstances, and that the evidence obtained by Officer Winn in Orem was properly admitted at trial.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-13-36 (1953), as amended, which was in effect on March 5, 1981, gave police officers the authority to act outside their normal jurisdictions in certain circumstances. This statute was enacted to promote cooperation between the various law enforcement agencies of this state and to protect local law enforcement agencies from liability arising from the actions of intruding police officers within the local jurisdiction. This purpose is manifest in the last line of subsection 2, which provides:

Unless specifically requested to aid a police officer of another jurisdiction or otherwise as provided for by law, no legal responsibility for a police officer's actions outside his normal jurisdiction and as provided herein, shall attach to the local law enforcement authority.

Nothing in this statute refers to the admissibility of evidence obtained by police officers outside their own jurisdiction. Therefore, since this statute was designed to promote effective law enforcement and not to confer rights upon defendants in criminal proceedings, respondent submits that the trial court properly denied appellant's motion to suppress the evidence (R. 12, 13).

Furthermore, Officer Winn's participation in the drug "buy" did not require or involve the exercise of his

authority as a peace officer. This could have been accomplished by a private citizen or an informant who had no peace officer powers. Since Officer Winn did not make an arrest in Orem, he was not exercising his authority as a peace officer in that jurisdiction and thus the statute does not apply at all.

Even if this Court finds that the statute applies to this case, the conduct of Officer Winn in exercising peace officer authority beyond his own jurisdiction was justified under §77-13-36(b) since the offense was ongoing in each jurisdiction and was in fact "committed" in Officer Winn's presence in Orem.

Appellant also asserts that Officer Winn's conduct outside his jurisdiction was controlled by Utah Code Annotated, §77-7-3 (1953), as amended. Section 77-7-3, which is essentially the same as Utah Code Annotated, §77-13-4 (1953), as amended, (which was in effect when these events occurred) provides:

- A private person may arrest another;
- (1) For a public offense committed or attempted in his presence.
- (2) When the person arrested has committed a felony although not in his presence.
- (3) When a felony has been in fact committed and he has reasonable cause for believing the person arrested to have committed it.

The following reasons establish that this statute has no application to the instant case. First, this statute applies to arrests made by private persons. In the instant case appellant was arrested in Pleasant Grove three months after the drug sale (T. 21). Therefore, since the arrest took place in Officer Winn's jurisdiction, he was not acting as a private person when he made the arrest, but was acting in his official capacity as a police officer.

Second, this statute provides that private persons can only make arrests under certain conditions; however, it does not require that those conditions exist before a private person can take any action. For example, a private person can take down a license plate number, get a description, or notify the police without first knowing that a felony has been committed. To hold that a private person could only assist the police when the conditions set forth in the statute are present would substantially hinder law enforcement. Third, the purpose of this statute is to protect private citizens from civil liability arising from false arrest, and to proscribe the dangers of uncontrolled vigilantism. Its purpose is not to frustrate legitimate law enforcement activities. Com v. Harris, 415 N.E. 2d 216 (Mass. 1981).

Some of these considerations distinguish People v. Aldapa, 17 Cal. App. 3d 184, 94 Cal. Rptr. 579 (1979) from

the instant case. In Aldapa, the court held that the defendant had been illegally arrested and therefore the evidence obtained pursuant to the arrest was inadmissible at trial. The court found that the officers who made the arrest outside their jurisdiction were acting as private persons. Therefore, the validity of the arrest was determined under §837 of the California Penal Code, which provided for arrest by private persons. Section 837 stated that a private person may make an arrest "when a felony has been in fact committed, and he has reasonable cause for believing the person arrested to have committed it." In Aldapa the defendant was charged with possession and possession of a narcotic for sale. The court noted that the police officers had arrested the defendant prior to discovering a bag of heroin he had in his possession. Therefore, the arrest was not valid under §837 because the police officers were not aware that a crime had been committed until after the arrest had been made.

In Aldapa the evidence was inadmissible because it had been obtained as the result of an illegal arrest. In the instant case appellant does not challenge the validity of his arrest. Therefore, he cannot claim that the evidence obtained by Officer Winn in Orem was inadmissible because it was obtained pursuant to an illegal arrest. The logical inference, then, from appellant's argument is that Aldapa

stands for the proposition that any evidence obtained by a private person before he/she knows the defendant has committed a crime is inadmissible. Respondent submits that Aldapa is not subject to such a broad interpretation.

Appellant further asserts that Officer Winn's conduct was unauthorized and therefore illegal. Respondent submits that Officer Winn's conduct was authorized. Utah Code Annotated, §77-36-4 provides that a police officer can exercise his authority outside his normal jurisdiction in response to public offenses committed in his presence. The public offense committed by appellant in this case was the distribution of a controlled substance for value. Appellant offered to sell L.S.D. to Officer Winn, took six dollars from Winn for the drug, and gave Officer Winn two tablets of L.S.D. (T. 16, 17). Appellant obviously committed the offense in Officer Winn's presence and therefore Officer Winn's conduct was authorized. Furthermore, even assuming that Officer Winn's actions were unauthorized, that does not mean his acts were illegal.

Officer Winn's conduct in the instant case was not like that taken by the police in Aldapa, who conducted numerous surveillances of the defendant's house for a three-month period and eventually arrested the defendant without ever notifying the local authorities. Here Officer Winn did

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